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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 0 CV

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 1

S.H.M. on behalf of GK.LH., Docket No.:
Plaintiff,

-—against—— _ o
MAMARONECK UNION FREE SCHOOL J(jﬂ GE %ﬂ RA S :'. L
DISTRICT, D ' '

Defendant, -

Plaintiff S.H.M., on behalf of G.K.LH., by and through her undersigned attofnt;,ys,
McCallion & Associates LLP, as and for her Complaint against defendant, Mamaroneck Unjon
Free School District, alleges and states the following:

THE PARTIES

1. G.K.LH. is a minor child who is classified as a student with a learning disability, which
through independent testing, has been determined to be a severe language based disability, often
referred to as dyslexia, and Attention-Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (“ADHD”) combined type.
At all relevant times, G.K_LH. (“the student™) has been a student residing within the
Mamaroneck Union Free School District entitled to all rights, and procedural safeguards
mandated by applicable law and statutes including, but not limited to the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA™), 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et. seq, as well as, the New York State
Education Laws. Student also has rights guaranteed him under the Americans With Disabilities
Act (ADA), the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and from other state
and federal common laws, which protect the student from negligence and injury.

2. Plaintiff S.H.M. (“the mother”) is the mother of G.K.1.H. and a resident of the State of
New York, residing with GK.LH. at a home she owns, at an address within the Mamaroneck

Union Free School District (“the District”). The mother is a taxpayer in the district.
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3. The student and his mother, are not expressly named herein by their given names, or
further identified by their actual address within New York, because of the privacy guarantees
provided in the IDEA statute, as well as in the Family Educational Rights Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C.
1232(g) and 34 C.F.R. 99 (hereinafier “FERPA™).

4, Defendant Mamaroneck Union Free School District, upon information and belief, is a
duly constituted school district organized under the laws of the State of New York. The District
is a “local educational agency™ as that term is defined in the federal IDEA statute, and is the
entity responsible for fulfilling the student’s statutory entitlements. Pursuant to the IDEA statute,
as well as the New York State Education Law, all school agencies within the State are required
and have a duty to provide eligible students with disabilities Individual Educational Programs
(“IEP”) that are tailored to meet the individual needs of the child and which are measured by
meaningful progress by the student.

THE FACTS

5. The underlying administrative due process proceeding was brought to secure

reimbursement and related relief pursuant as acknowledged by the Supreme Court in Board of

Education v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982), Burlington Schoot Comm. v. Department of Educ.,
471 U.S. 359 (1985) and Florence County School Dist. 4 v. Carter, 510 U.S. 7 (1993).

6. Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court allow the parties to produce certain
“additional evidence” to fill in any gaps that may exist in the underlying record especially given
the district’s violation of FERPA, and to allow additional causes of action which could not be
brought until such time as the administrative remedies required by IDEA were exhausted, but
which may not have specifically had a place under IDEA. Plaintiff also requests that this Court:

(a) uphold the Decision and Order rendered on January 20, 2010 by Martin Kehoe, 111, Esq.
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(Case Identifier # 45104) (“IHO Decision™) in part, and reverse that portion which reduced the
amount of reimbursement to Plaintiff, awarding the entire cost of tuition and expenses: (b)
reverse Decision No. 10-020, dated April 22, 2010 of State Review Officer Paul F. Kelly ( “SRO
Decision™), in its entirety, as without merit and failing to be impartial; (c) order that the District
reimburse G.K.I.H.’s mother for the tuition and expenses incurred by the mother to secure for the
student a FAPE, after defendant’s failure to provide a FAPE for the student, for a four year
period; (d)find that the district is in violation of FERPA and compel the district to tumn over all
documents relating to the student; (¢) declare plaintiff to be the prevailing party; (f) award
plaintiff her statutory attorneys’ fees and related costs of this action and the underlying
administrative proceedings; (g) award money damages to the student for, breach of duty and
negligence which caused injury to the student and (h) accord plaintiff such other, further and
different relief as may be just under the circumstances.

7. As the student and his mother have exhausted their administrative remedies, this matter is
now ripe for adjudication by this Court as a modified de novo review.

JURISIDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the IDEA statute (20 U.5.C. Sec.
1415).
9. Venue is proper in that plaintiffs and the defendant reside in this District.
AS AND FOR PLAINTIFF’S CLAIM FOR RELIEF
10. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in the preceding paragraphs as if
fully set forth here.
11, In September of 2005, the student entered the Mamaroneck School District in the sixth

grade and remained there for three years, until the end of the e¢ighth grade. During the three years
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that the student was at the Hommocks Middle School, he made little to no progress in the
development of reading, writing and math, despite Defendant employees’ constant
representations to the mother that student was progressing nicely and that the IEP’s drawn-up for
the three year period, (2005-2006, 2006-2007, 2007-2008 Ywere all that was needed.

12. In the winter of 2008, the mother became concerned that despite the districts” statements
to the contrary and satisfactory letter grades, the student was unable to read beyond the second or
third grade level and could not write. The mother became convinced that the district was not
being honest with her and sought out independent testing.

13. The parent contacted the NYU Child Study Center and arranged for extensive diagnostic
testing.

14. The NYU testing provided a definitive diagnosis and established that the student was of
average intelligence and severely disabled, suffering from numerous weaknesses, including
double deficit dyslexia, spatial impairments and ADHD combined type. This combination of
disabilities is extremely rare and only occurs in approximately 5% of the population of dyslexics
nationwide.

15. Using the NYU report and with guidance from numerous experts and the student’s
therapist, the mother worked with the school district to try and find an appropriate program for
the student. At the same time, she looked at private placements in New York, Connecticut and
Massachusetts. The District at no time considered out of district placement. After the District
was unable to provide an appropriate program for the student, the mother placed him at The Gow
School (“Gow™) in South Wales, New York.

16. In addition to working with the District, the mother applied to several schools that
specialize in educating severely dyslexic children. However, because the student was so severely

disabled, only The Gow School felt it could handle a student with the level of disability of this
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child. Because the parent was contflicted about the placement and wanted to be fair to the
District, she waited for one year to see whether or not Gow made a difference before requesting
reimbursement.

17. In May of 2008, a CSE meeting was held at the middle school which was to provide a
course of study for the student in the ninth grade at Mamaroneck High School, and an IEP was
issued reflecting the recommendations from the CSE and a comment that the mother needed to
see the programs before agreeing.

18. The mother was deeply concerned about the May 2008 IEP and meet with the School
District to try and find a better path. Throughout this period, as the record reflects, the mother
insisted that among other things the reading program that was being offered had not worked for
the student and that an alternative needed to be offered for him to receive an appropriate
education.

19. While the District made claims that the IEP would be altered and changes made, a new
IEP was not issued unti! October of 2008, two months after the student had been removed from
the school. In both cases these IEP’s were insufficient to provide the student with a FAPE and
were fundamentally flawed in that the people designing the October 2008 1EP had never met
with the student or done any independent analysis. Despite the fact that the student would be
transferring up to the high school, he was completely unknown to the members attending the
CSE and, as testimony in the subsequent Due Process Hearing determined, these members were
also unfamiliar with the program that the student had received in the middle school and which
had failed to provide him with a FAPE.

20. Several key factors led to the mother filing a Due Process Complaint. The first was that

the results of independent testing showed that the student enter the district reading at a2 2.5
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reading level and after three years was still reading at a 3™ grade level. Secondly, after one year
at Gow the student went from a 3 grade level to an 8% grade reading level. With the major
improvements in the student’s performance it became clear to the mother that the school district
had misled her and failed in their special duty to provide a FAPE under IDEA and that they were
not equipped to provide a FAPE for a student with the level of impairment the student showed.

21. In June of 2009 the mother filed a Due Process Complaint. Despite the statutory
requirement, no resolution meeting was held. While the District said a meeting which had been
scheduled for a CSE meeting was to be reconfigured as a resolution meeting, in actuality it was a
CSE meeting and did not in any way meet the requirements of IDEA. A protest was made at the
time by the mother’s counsel.

22. The Due Process Hearing began on July 30, 2009 and was conducted over a four month
period, concluding in December of 2009.

23. On January 20, 2010, the Independent Hearing Officer issued a decision in favor of the
parent, stating that for a number of reasons the District had failed to provide a FAPE, and that
The Gow School was an appropriate placement. However, because of an alleged procedural err
on behalf of the parent, the IHO determined the amount of the parent’s reimbursement should be
only 10%. The IHO decision is attached here as Exhibit A.

24. Prior to and throughout the hearing, the mother, through her counsel, repeatedly
requested the complete file of the student. Prior to the hearing the District produced what was
asserted to be the file, but based on testimony by the District’s own witnesses, numerous
documents were missing. Despite repeated requests and the mandatory production guarantees by

FERPA and IDEA, important documents are still missing.
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25. Upon information and belief, District witnesses answered questions concerning progress
and performance of the student, which the parent and her counsel had no way of either verifying
or invalidating since copies of tests, which witnesses said were put in the student files, were not
produced.

26. Upon information and belief, based on testimony, documentation and information
gathered during the underlying hearing, and information received since the conclusion of the
hearing , defendant, through certain of its designated agents, the student’s file was “sanitized”
with the removal of certain test data as part of the District’s concerted effort to give the IHO the
false impression that the student was making progress, when in fact he was not. Indeed, the
evidence and testimony presented by the mother and various experts and teachers from the Gow
School show unquestionably that the parent had actually been given incorrect information while
the student was in the Hommocks Middle School, and that despite what she was being told, the
student was, in fact, not progressing.

27. The District appealed the THO Decision and on April 22, 2010 the State Review Officer,
Peter Kelley returned a decision in favor of the District. (“SRO Decision™). This opinion was
without merit and lacked any justification based on fact or evidence. In fact, the decision was so
one- sided that it is highly questionable whether it meets the minimum test of impartiality. Both
the findings of fact and conclusions of law in the SRO Decision are simply wrong and belie any
attempt to review the case without prejudice. The SRO Decision is attached here as Exhibit B.

28. As the THO found, the defendant District failed to offer G.K.I.H. a FAPE. While the [IHO
decision is part of the record, three areas of the decision should be noted here. First, the IEPs for
all three years the student was in the middie school and the two that were to be reflective of the

program in his freshman year failed to provide any major alterations. Further, the IEPs only
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modestly addressed the real disability the student had, severe dyslexia, and over- emphasized the
emotional social development of the student, which according to the parent’s expert testimony,
was directly related to the leamning deficits of the student and not some independent factor.
Finally, while the District must have had at least some degree of awareness that the student was
making little to no progress in any real sense, it never considered a private placement.

29. The District’s failure to produce the entire record of the student, and decision to draft an
IEP without the benefit of any member of the CSE who had even met the student or were aware
of his prior school courses, constituted further substantive violations.

30. The District’s failure to provide alternative reading programs, to illustrate any real
understanding of the student’s disability and to inform the parent of the real status of the
student’s progress were all failures of their duty under IDEA to provide the student with a FAPE.
At no time, as stated by the ITHO Decision, did the District provide a suitable alternative. The
negligence by the District over the three years that the student was under their care, when they
knew or should have know that the student was not progressing, caused the student severe harm
and significantly delayed his ability to learn or progress.

31. Further, as was discovered during the Due Process hearing, there was no coordination
between the middle school and the high school, meaning that the transition of the student would
have been extremely difficult. This factor was established at the hearing through the testimony
of the District’s own witnesses, and it was further established that the services that were to have
been provided to the student under both IEP’s for the school year 2008-2009 failed to provide
anywhere near the kind of accommodations the student required as a disabled person. In fact, it
was intended that in one of the most critical areas, i.e., reading, it was planned that the services

to the student would actually be cut. Not only was there no alternative reading program for the
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student, which testing and testimony showed was necessary, but the program that was offered
was actually cut back from prior years.

32. As discussed in the IHO’s opinion, the District appeared to be far more concerned with
providing counseling services than real academic supports, which would have been extremely
detrimental for this average to above average intelligent student. The failure to provide the
necessary FAPE also resulted in behavioral regression and depression that the student began to
exhibit in the Spring of 2007, and which got worse throughout the school year 2007-2008.

33. Further, as is clear in the testimony and the THO decision, the defendant District failed to
meaningfully consider assistive technology for the student throughout his time in the District
even though it was available and might have helped the student had he had access to the
technologies. Again the District’s negligence and failure to perform its statutory duty to this
learning disabled child resulted in extreme harm to the student, which he continues to suffer from
to this day. In fact, even after the mother pleaded with the District to provide the necessary
technology, she only received a lukewarm response in an email, vaguely stating that the student
would be given technological supports “as needed.” At that point, the student clearly needed
technological supports, and even the technology that was avatlable was not always accessible to
the student should he have remained in the school district.

34. The defendant District, by the testimony of their own witnesses, could not provide
extended day services, small core general education classes with specially trained teachers or any
of the other supports necessary for the student to progress. These supports are available at the
Gow School and have allowed the student to progress in an acceptable manner, although he
remains behind his peers because of the negligence of the District during his middle school

years.
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35. The District refused to consider the “full continuum” of options that should have been
considered, including private placement, and failed to consider the feasibility of such placement
for a student who is so severely disabled that no public school district could reasonably be
expected to have the resources necessary to provide a FAPE to this special category of disabled
student. Therefore, the only way to meet their statutory requirements under IDEA was and is
private placement.

36. As noted in the THO decision, the District failed to adequately assess the student’s
academic skills and failed to recognize the lack of progress in the student’s ability to read. This
lack of willingness to address and further develop a program for this student resulted in a failure
to develop individualized goals and objectives that were appropriate, sufficiently challenging and
objectively measurable for the student.

37. The District failed to provide staff with appropriate and necessary training.

38. The District failed to provide an accurate summary and report of the concerns of the
parent and did not keep records of several meetings where those concerns were addressed. This
inappropriate record keeping was only discovered at the hearing.

39. The placement for which plaintiff secks reimbursement is completely appropriate and
more than meets the Prong II standard for reimbursement.

40. Plaintiff received the IHO Decision and, while disappointed with the reduction of the
tuition reimbursement for school year 2008-2009, was prepared to accept the decision in its
entirety and move for reimbursement for the subsequent years. However, when the District
appealed the decision, the Plaintiff cross-moved to increase the amount of the reimbursement.

41, The IHO Decision is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

10
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42. On April 22, 2010 the State Review Officer (“SRO™), Peter Kelley, rendered a decision
overturning the IHO Decision.

43. The SRO Decision is completely without merit and appears to follow the pattern found
with other decisions by Mr. Kelley, which was to review the IHO’s decisions in a completely
prejudicial manner, with a heavy bias in favor of the school district being reviewed. In !:his case,
the SRO’s Decision constitutes a fundamental denial of the rights of the Plaintiff and her son to
an impartial hearing.

44, The SRO failed to fault the defendant District for failing to produce critical educational
records that the District should have been maintaining and which should have been available for
review at the hearing. Despite numerous references in the record and testimony of the hearing,
where the attorney for Plaintiff continues to request copies of missing records, the SRO
summarily concludes without any analysis that there was no violation by the District.

45. The SRO impermissibly overlooked evidence that the District retaliated against the
student’s mother for filing a due process claim, and inexplicitly blamed her and her family for
the severity of the student’s disability. Further, the District, through its counsel, made numerous
defamatory statements regarding the parent and the student’s family that were completely untrue.
In addition, certain heavily coached District witnesses conveniently “forgot” certain facts and
events that did not conform to the District’s theory of the case. This type of “scorched earth”
policy by the District is not new, and similar conduct prejudicial to the student has been cited in
other cases against the District, suggesting a misguided policy of winning at any cost, no matter
where the best interest of the student may lie.

46. The SRO incorrectly interpreted elements of the IEP’s without balancing what was on the

IEP with the testimony and the evidence.

11
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47. The SRO imposed an incorrect and unduly elevated evidentiary standard on the mother
for purposes of Prong I by incorrectly and prejudicially dismissing evidence and arguments
produced at the Due Process Hearing, which were clearly correctly allowed into evidence and all
“facts” concerning issues at the hearing were raised directly or indirectly in the complaint. This
is especially true since the Plaintiff was handicapped by the failure of the District to produce a
complete file, meaning that the many pertinent “facts” were only made available to the Plaintiff
through the District’s witnesses. The Complaint in this matter was extensive and dealt with the
inability of the school district to provide a FAPE on a number of levels. The Complaint covered
all facets of the inadequacy of the District’s ability to provide the necessary support for the
student to make meaningful progress. The Parent further reserved the right to supplement and
expand the Complaint through testimony. It is well established that a complainant does not have
to plead all of his/her evidence in a pleading. Therefore, the SRO wrongfully and prejudicially
ruted against the Plaintiff, depriving her of her civil rights.

48. The SRO failed to apply the standard that is applicable in the Second Circuit when courts
are considering reimbursing parents for unilateral placements when a school district fails to
provide a FAPE.

49, The SRO ignored the fact that the District’s IEP goals and objectives were insufficient,
inappropriate and illustrative of the failure of the District to correctly understand and determine
the special needs of the student.

50. The SRO incorrectly put undo weight on the October 2008 IEP, incorrectly finding it the
only IEP for the purposes of the Due Process Decision. The SRO failed to find it procedurally
flawed because it was provided to the mother afier the start of the 2008-2009 school year; and it

was fatally flawed in that none of the participants in the CSE had met or personally evaluated the

12
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student. The SRO did not recognize the fact that, upon information and belief, this was the
defendant school district’s intentional objective, which was to construct an artificial IEP
designed to counter any due process claim, but having no real value or relationship to the
student’s actual needs.

51. The SRO incorrectly rejected the weight of the evidence that showed through testimony
and fact that the District did not genuinely individualize the student’s IEP to his unique needs,
and deliberately failing to meet the District’s duty to provide a FAPE to the student.

52. The SRO completely ignored compelling evidence that the District had failed to properly
assess and evaluate the student’s level of competency and progress, failing to give any serious
weight to expert testimony and numerous test results that showed no progress over a three year
period. The SRO only gave weight to testimony offered by the District, failing again to provide
any impartial, non- prejudicial review appropriate for the skill level of the student prior to his
unilateral placement.

53. The SRO erroneously evaluated independent testing, failing to give it any weight despite
numerous witness who testified to the severity of the student’s disability, lack of progress and
inability of the District to provide a FAPE in a large public high school.

54. The SRO wrongfully interpreted the testimony of the student, and that of other experts, as
to the severe nature of the student’s disability and therefore wrongfully ruled that the District
was capable of providing a FAPE to the student.

55. The SRO gave undo and inappropriate weight to the so-called grade reports of the
student, failing to recognize that these grades were grades were for second or third grade
materials and were not acceptable for an eighth grade student, overlooking several federal cases

establishing that grades alone are not a measure of appropriate progress.

13
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536. The SRO gave undo and inappropriate weight to the results of one regent’s exam,
completely overlooking the evidence that the passing of the regent’s exam was only due to the
independent tutor hired by the mother, who did nothing for several months but “teach to the
test.” The SRO further overlooked the fact that the student, since the unilateral placement by the
mother at the Gow School, still struggled with science, further proving the point made by the
mother in testimony that the student did not pass the regent exam for any reason other than the
extreme measures undertaken by the mother and had absolutely nothing to do with the District.

57. The SRQ’s Decision is so capricious and contrary to the facts, evidence and testimony,
that it appears the only submission papers that the SRO considered were those by the District.

58. The SRO’s Deciston is contrary to law, contrary to the clear weight of the evidence and
public policy, and should be reversed.

AS AND FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violations of Family Education Rights and Privacy Act 20 U.S.C. 123g et seq.)

59. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in the preceding paragraphs as if
fully set forth here.

60. 20 U.S.C. 123 (a)(1)(A) clearly states that parents requesting access to their children’s
file must be able to have that access to the complete record within no more than 45 days, if the
school district is to continue to receive federal funds.

61. Defendant Mamaroneck Union Free School District receives federal funds and therefore is
subject to the requirements of 20 U.S.C. 123(a)(1)(A).

62. Defendant Mamaroneck Union Free School District has failed to provide access to the complete
educational record of the Plaintiff®s minor chikd, which impeded Plaintiff’s ability to prepare for the Due

Process Hearing.

14
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63. Upon information and belief, based on the testimony during the Due Process Hearing, by
the District’s own witness, certain key documents are missing from the files turned over to
Plaintiff prior to the start of the Due Process hearing. These documents include but are not
limited to several exams and evaluation tests which directly related to the student’s disability and
which document what progress, if any, was made while the student was in the District.

64. Failure to turn over these records is a direct violation of FERPA and the District should
be compelled to turn over these records immediately. Plaintiff should further be allowed to use
information from these documents to the extent they provide additional evidence relevant in this
proceeding,

65. Should the records not be turned over or should the District claim that these records are
lost, then appropriate adverse inference should be drawn in support of the Plaintiff”s claims
against the District.

AS AND FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
((Violations of Individuals with Disabilities Act 34 CFR §300.613)
66.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in the preceding paragraphs
as if fully set forth here.

67. 34 CFR §300.613 provides that Defendant as a public school district receiving federal
funds “must permit parents to inspect and review any education records relating to their children
that are collected, maintained or used...”

68. Defendant have failed to produce all of the education records relating to Plaintiff’s child
either by failing to search and maintain appropriate records or to deliberately withhold said

records in order to further impede Plaintiff’s case in the Due Process Hearing.

15



Case 7:10-cv-06207-KMK Document 1  Filed 08/18/10 Page 16 of 18

69. Defendant should be compelled to immediately turn over the missing records, including
key test results and copies of tests referred to in the Due Process Hearing by District’s own
witnesses; Plaintiff should then be allowed to use such records to further develop the record.

70. Should defendant be unable to turn over the missing records, then a negative inference
should be drawn as to the District’s ability to provide a FAPE and as evidence that the District
has deliberately withheld evidence concerning the lack of progress of the student, and what the
District’s agents and employees knew or should have know about the Iack of progress.

AS AND FOR A FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach of Duty)

71. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in the preceding paragraphs as if
fully set forth here.

72. Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004,(“IDEA™) and its
subsequent revisions by the Department of Education to 34 CFR Parts 300 and 30, establish a
clear duty to 2 student with learning disabilities and the student’s family to provide a the student
with a Free Appropriate Public Education (“FAPE”). This duty is unique and established by
IDEA and is therefore separate and different from causes that might have a risen in the general
education area. While the courts have found that educational malpractice and questions of
negligence and duty are unlikely to prevail, questions of duty and negligence in the special
education area are separate and apart, as IDEA establishes a unique and special duty on any
public school district which receives funds under the Act.

73. In the instant case, the defendant district had an absolute duty to the student and his
mother to provide a FAPE. The district breached this duty by failing to recognize the degree of
the student’s disability or to acknowledge that it was not equipped to deal with the level of

severity.

16
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82. It was only after the mother paid for and received substantial outside testing, which
should have been provided by the District in the first place, that the degree of negligence on the
part of the District over the three year period became evident.

83. As a result of this negligence, the student was severely harmed and denied access to the
appropriate services his disability required for a period of at least two and one half years. This
negligence harmed the student emotionally and placed him will behind his peers even with
special supports. Had the District not acted in such a negligent manner, the student would have
received the necessary supports and appropriate programs at least two years earlier.

84. As a direct result of the district’s negligence, the student should receive money damages
in an amount to be determined, but in no event less than $100,000.

WHEREFORE, it is respectfully submitted that, after the plaintiff is provided with the missing
records and are able if necessary to introduce “additional evidence,” this Court should, upon its
modified de novo review:

a) Reverse the IHO Decision in part awarding a 100% of all costs to the parents;

b) Reverse the SRO Decision in its entirety;

c¢) Order that the defendant District reimburse the mother, as previously requested, for the

school years 2008-2009 and 2009-2010;

d) Declare G.K.I.H. and his mother to be the “substantially prevailing party” (for purposes

of IDEA’s fee shifting provision);

¢) Grant leave to plaintiff to submit a statutory fee application and be reimbursed for related

costs of this action and the underlying administrative proceedings;

f) Compel the District to return all records pertaining to the student or face a negative

inference;

g) Award the student a sum to be determined, if necessary at trial, for the damages caused

the student due to the District’s Breach of Duty, but in no event less than $40,000.

h) Award the student a sum to be determined, if necessary at trial, for the damages caused
the student due to the District’s negligence, but in no event less than $100,000.

18
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i} Accord plaintiff such other, further and different relief as may be just under the

circumstances.

Dated: New York, New York
August 17,2010
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Kenneth F. McCallion (KM1591)
McCALLION & ASSOCIATES LLP
100 Park Ave., 16® Floor

New York, New York, 10017
646-366-0880

Attorneys for Plantiff



